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Alexandria, VA 22313-1450 TRADEMARK 

In Compliance with 35 U.S.C. § 290 and/or 15 U.S.C. § 1116 you are hereby advised that a court action has been 

filed in the U.S. District Court NCWD on the following 1] Patents or 9 Trademarks: 
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In the above-entitled case, the following decision has been rendered orludgement issued: 

DECISION/JUDGEMENT 

C(BY) (Y PUTYCLERK . DATE I 

Copy 1-Upon initiation ofaction,'- this copy to Director Copy 3 -Upon tersrinatio1- 4actami, mail this copy to Director 
Copy ?,-Upon filing document adding patent(s), mail this copy to Director Copy 4-Case fife copy



Gaa&93DB•86u 4M NURM L~scutwt2 12 Flddid)9M&MMG Fft 1100157 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

CHARLOTTE DIVISION 

Case No.: 3:0 -cv-416 

JUST COFFEE, INC., ) ) 
Plaintiff, ) 

v. ) COMPLAINT 
) 

DILWORTH PLAYHOUSE, INC., ) 

Defendant. ) 

NATURE OF ACTION 

I. Plaintiff Just Coffee, Inc. ("PtIlaintiff' or "Just Coffee") brings this action 

against Defendant Dilworth Playhouse, Inc. ("Defendant" or "Dilworth Playhouse") 

seeking injunctive relief and damages for Defendant's trademark infringement in 

violation of Section 32 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114, false designation of origin and 

unfair competition in violation of Section 43(a)(1)(A) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

1 125(a)(l)(A), false or misleading descripý1tion or representation of fact in violation of 

Section 43(a)(1)(B) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B), and for trademark 

infringement, unfair competition, and unfair and deceptive trade practices in violation of the 

statutory and common law of North Carolina.  I/ 
PARTIES AND JURISDICTION 

2. Just Coffee is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

North Carolina, with its principal place ofbusiness in Charlotte, North Carolina.  
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3. Upon information and belief, Dilworth Playhouse is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of North Carolina, with its principal place of 

business in Charlotte, North Carolina. 1 

4. Dilworth Playhouse is conducting business within this jurisdiction and is 

subject to the jurisdiction of this Court.  

5. Jurisdiction is proper in this Co rt based on 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338(a), 

1338(b) and this Court's supplemental jurisdiction.  

6. Venue is proper in this Court based on 28 U.S.C. § 1391.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Facts Concernin2 Just Coffee and its Incontestable Trademarks 

7. Just Coffee is a premier regiornal provider of gourmet coffees and related 

coffee bar services and is well-known for providing quality coffee-related products and 

services. Currently, Just Coffee and its licens les operate fifteen establishments for coffee 

bar services throughout North Carolina and in South Carolina and Georgia.  

8. Since March 19, 1996, Just Coffee is the owner of federal service mark 

registrations for the word mark "DILWORTH COFFEE HOUSE," Registration No.  

1,979,528 and for the design mark "DILWORTH COFFEE HOUSE," Registration No.  

1,931,780 (collectively, the "Incontestable Trademarks"). True and accurate copies of 

the United States Patent and Trademark Office certificates of registration 1or the 

Incontestable Trademarks are attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by 

reference.  

24828-3518-9889.05
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9. Since at least as early as Novem jber of 1989, Just Coffee has used the 

Incontestable Trademarks in commerce and in connection with the provision of coffee 

bar services.  

10. The Incontestable Trademarks have become incontestable pursuant to 

Section 15 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1065, and therefore constitutes conchisive 

evidence of Just Coffee's exclusive rights to use the Incontestable Trademarks in 

connection with coffee bar services pursuant to Section 33 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C.  

§ 1115(b).  

11. Just Coffee has expended substantial resources to advertise and promote 

its coffee bar services and other coffee-Lrelated products and services under the 

Incontestable Trademarks. As a result, the Incontestable Trademarks have attained 

substantial goodwill and have become exclusively associated with Just Coffee's products 

and services.  

12. In addition to the Incontestable Trademarks, Just Coffee has acquired 

strong common law trademark rights through its use for over nineteen years of the mark 

"DILWORTH" in connection with its high quality coffees and coffee-related goods and 

services (the "Dilworth Trademark").  

13. Just Coffee acquired its common law rights in the Dilworth Trademark 

and its common law rights and registrations in the Incontestable Trademarks prior to the 

acts of the Defendant complained of herein.  

3 48f8-8518-9899.05



14. Just Coffee has expended a great dea of time, effort and money in 

connection with the advertising and promotion o high Luality goods and services offered 

for sale and sold in connection with the Dilworth Trademark and the Incontestable 

Trademarks (hereinafter, collectively the "Trademarks" 

15. Just Coffee's growth and tremendous success are due in large part tc the 

public recognition of the high quality goods and services that Just Coffee provides under 

the Trademarks.  

16. As a direct result of Just Coffee's effo s, the general public associats the 

Trademarks as identifying Just Coffee as the single s urce of the goods and services sold 

and offered for sale under the Trademarks. The TIademarks distinguish Just Coffee's 

goods and services from products and servic sold by others.  

17. The Trademarks are very valuable as ets of Just Coffee. The Trademarks 

represent and embody the enviable reputation and ery valuable goodwill of Just Coffee 

among members of the trade and purchasing public.  

Facts Concerning Defendant's Infring ment of the Trademarks 

18. Dilworth Playhouse operate an establishment that provides coffee bar 

services and coffee-related products and services.  

19. Dilworth Playhouse is in commercitl competition with Just Coffee.  

20. Dilworth Playhouse promots, adv rtises, and transacts coffee bar services 

under the marks "DILWORTH" and "DILWOJTH PLAYHOUSE" (collectively, the 

"Infringing Marks").  

4 4i•i-85 18-988905



21. The Infringing Marks being used by Dilworth Playhouse are identical or 

substantially similar to the Trademarks, and the goods and services offered by Dilwcrth 

Playhouse under the Infringing Marks are identical to the goods and services offered 

under the Trademarks.  

22. Both Just Coffee and Dilworth Playhouse advertise in the same manner, 

offer their goods and services at similar prices, and share the same customer base. The 

establishment operated by Dilworth PlayhousIe under the Infringing Marks is less than 

two miles from a Dilworth Coffeehouse location operated by Just Coffee.  

23. Dilworth Playhouse's use of the Infringing Marks in connection with 

coffee bar services is likely to cause confusion, mistake or deception with respect to the 

origin of Dilworth Playhouse's goods and services and Just Coffee's goods and services, 

including whether Dilworth Playhouse's goods and services are sponsored or approved 

by Just Coffee or whether there is an association between Dilworth Playhouse and Just 

Coffee.  

24. Dilworth Playhouse's use of the Infringing Marks in connection with 

coffee bar services has caused actual confusion, mistake or deception with respect to the 

origin of Dilworth Playhouse's goods and services and Just Coffee's goods and services.  

25. This likelihood of confusion, mistake or deception has caused, and 

continues to cause, harm to Just Coffee's reputation and goodwill and has damaged, is 

damaging and will continue to damage Just Coffee.  

5 482M-8518-9889.05



26. Dilworth Playhouse is fully aware of Just Coffee's trademark rights in the 

Registered Marks and the Dilworth Mark.  

27. On July 27, 2006, Just Coffee, Ltrough its legal counsel, made a written 

demand on Dilworth Playhouse (the "Demand Letter") to discontinue use of the 

Trademarks or any mark confusingly similar thereto, including the modification of 

Defendant's internet web site www.dilworthplayhouse.com (the "Infringing Site") so that 

it is not connected with or referring to the sale/or promotion of coffee and coffee-related 

goods and services. The Demand Letter additionally informed Dilworth Playhouse that 

its infringing conduct had already resulted in/at least several known instances of actual 

consumer confusion between Dilworth Coffeehouse and Dilworth Playhouse. A true and 

accurate copy of the Demand Letter, without enclosures, is attached hereto as Exhibit B 

and incorporated herein by reference.  

28. Dilworth Playhouse's responses to the Demand Letter and to follw-up 

correspondence from Just Coffee dated September 21, 2006, October 26, 2006, 

November 17, 2006, July 17, 2007 and September 27, 2007 have merely been a series of 

misrepresentations and delaying actions evidencing an unwillingness to cease 

infringement of the Trademarks. A true and accurate of the correspondence, without 

enclosures, is attached hereto as collective Exhibit C and incorporated herein by 

reference.  

29. On or about November of 2006, Dilworth Playhouse assured Just Coffee 

that Dilworth Playhouse's establishment would be changing location and operating under 

a different name. This misrepresentation! was renewed on or about July of 2007 when 

6 48s28-85s-988905



Dilworth Playhouse represented to Just Coffee that a contest had been held to pick a new 

operating name and that the winning name, "Perk at Southend," had been selected.  

30. Although signs outside of the Dilworth Playhouse establishment, which 

has not changed location, were changed to omit reference to the Trademarks, Dilworth 

Playhouse continues to advertise and market its goods and services under the Infringing 

Marks. Dilworth Playhouse continues to own and operate the Infringing Site despite Just 

Coffee's repeated demands to change it so that it is not connected with or referring to the 

sale or promotion of coffee and coffee-related goods and services. Examples of such 

demands are evidenced in the letter of July 27] 2006, attached in Exhibit B, and the letters 

of November 17, 2006, July 17, 2007 and September 27, 2007, included in Exhibit C.  

Additionally, counsel for Just Coffee contacted counsel for Dilworth Playhouse by phone 

or email regarding its demands to cease and d esist on numerous occasions from August 9, 

2006 until at least September 2007.  

31. Dilworth Playhouse continues to advertise under the Infringing Marks in 

the yellow pages of telephone directories. i)Lworth Playhouse's listing for the "Dilworth 

Playhouse Cafe" in the AT&T Yellow Pages of September 2008-09 appears directly 

below listings for Just Coffee's licensed establishments. A true and accurate copy of the 

yellow pages listings is attached hereto as Exhibit D and incorporated herein by 

reference.  

32. Just Coffee has never licensed or otherwise authorized Dilworth 

Playhouse to use the Trademarks.  

7 4823-8518-9889.05



33. Dilworth Playhouse's actions have caused actual confusion, mistake and 

deception among the purchasing public.  

34. Unless Dilworth Playhouse is enjoined from using the Infringing Marks, 

or any confusingly similar mark, for coffee bar services and other similar goods or 

services, confusion, mistake and deception among the public and in the trade will 

continue to occur by reason of the similar nature of the marks and the goods and services 

provided by Dilworth Playhouse and Just Coffee. Dilworth Playhouse's acts and 

omissions evidence an unwillingness to voluntarily cease infringement of the 

Trademarks. 1 

35. Just Coffee has suffered da ages from the confusion, mistake or 

deception resulting from Dilworth Playhouse s use of the Infringing Marks and will 

continue to suffer such damages unless Dilworth Playhouse is enjoined and restrained by 

the Court from using a mark identical to or con Iusingly similar to the Trademarks.  

36. Additionally, Just Coffee has suffered damage to its valuable reputation 

and goodwill resulting from Dilworth Playhouse's use of the Infringing Marks, and such 

damages cannot be compensated by money d mages. Accordingly, Just Coffee does not 

have an adequate remedy at law.  

37. Just Coffee is likely to succeed on the merits of its claims. Any harm to 

Dilworth Playhouse if injunctive relief is granted would be outweighed by the harra that 

will continue to result to Just Coffee if injunctive relief is not granted. The public irterest 

would be served by the granting of injunctive relief.  

84828.85 8-9889.05



COUNT I 
Trademark Infringement 

15 U.S.C. & 11114(1) 

38. Just Coffee realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing 

allegations as if fully stated herein.  

39. The use by Dilworth Playhouse of the Infringing Marks in connection with 

the sale, offering for sale, distribution and advertising of coffee bar services is without 

authorization from Just Coffee.  

40. This use of the Infringing Marks in commerce is likely to cause confusion, 

mistake or deception and, accordingly, constitutes trademark infringement.  

41. Dilworth Playhouse's use of the Infringing Marks has been, and continues 

to be, a knowing and willful trademark infringement.  

42. Dilworth Playhouse's acts constitute a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).  

43. By reason of the acts of Dilwonth Playhouse as alleged herein, Just Coffee 

has suffered, is suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable harm unless Dilworth 

Playhouse is restrained form continuing its wrongful acts as alleged herein.  

44. Just Coffee has no adequate remedy at law.  

COUIT I1 
False Designation of Origin" and Unfair Competition 

15 U.S.C. P l11125(a)(1)(A) 

45. Just Coffee realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing 

allegations as if fully stated herein.  

9 4828-&5,8-9889.05



46. The use by Dilworth Playhouse of the Infringing Marks in connection with 

coffee bar services is without authorization from/Just Coffee.  

47. This use of the Infringing Marks is likely to cause confusion, mistake or 

deception among the relevant public as to source or origin of the parties' goods and 

services.  

48. Dilworth Playhouse's actions as alleged herein constitute false designation 

of origin and unfair competition in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  

49. Upon information and belief] at least some of Dilworth Playhouse's 

actions have been with full knowledge of the false designation of origin and with the 

intent to capitalize upon the goodwill associated by the relevant consuming public; with 

the Incontestable Trademarks.  

50. By reason of the acts of Dilworth Playhouse as alleged herein, Just Coffee 

has suffered, is suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable harm unless Dilworth 

Playhouse is restrained from continuing its rongful acts as alleged herein.  

51. Just Coffee has no adequate rLemedy at law.  

COUNT III 
False or Misleading Descripition or Representation of Fact 

15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)B) 

52. Just Coffee realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing 

allegations as if fully stated herein.  

10 0 28-8518-9889.05
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53. The advertising and promotional materials disseminated by Dilworth 

Playhouse in the advertising, promotion and marketing of the Defendant's goods and 

services contain false and misleading representat ions of fact or descriptions of fact which 

misrepresent the nature, characteristics, qualities and origin of the Defendant's goods and 

services.  

54. The false and misleading advertising, promotion and marketing acts by 

Defendants have been and continue to be taking place in interstate commerce.  

55. Just Coffee believes it has been and will be damaged by the false and 

misleading advertising, promotion and marketiLg acts by Defendant.  

56. Dilworth Playhouse's actions aalleged herein constitute false designation 

of origin and unfair competition in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  

57. Upon information and belief, at least some of Dilworth Playhouse's false 

and misleading advertising, promotion and marketing were made for the purposes of 

influencing consumers to buy Defendant's goods and services.  

58. By reason of the acts of Dilworth Playhouse as alleged herein, Just Coffee 

has suffered, is suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable harm unless Dilworth 

Playhouse is restrained form continuing its wrongful acts as alleged herein.  

59. Just Coffee has no adequate rremedy at law.  

COUNT IV 
Common Law Trademark Infrinutement and Unfair Competition 

1 4829-;518-988,5



60. Just Coffee realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing 

allegations as if fully stated herein.  

61. Dilworth Playhouse's acts as described herein constitute trademark 

infringement and unfair competition under the common law of the State of North 

Carolina.  

62. By reason of the acts of Dilworth Playhouse as alleged herein, Just Coffee 

has suffered, is suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable harm unless Dilworth 

Playhouse is restrained form continuing its wrongful acts as alleged herein.  

63. Just Coffee has no adequate rei dy at law.  

COUNT V 
Unfair or Deceptive ýTrade Practices 

N.C. Gen. Stat. ý 75-1.1 

64. Just Coffee realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing 

allegations as if fully stated herein.  

65. Dilworth Playhouse's conduct as set forth in this Complaint constAitutes 

unfair methods of competition and/or unfair or deceptive acts or practices within the 

meaning of Section 75-1.1 of the North Carolina General Statutes.  

66. Dilworth Playhouse's conduct as set forth in this Complaint is in or 

affecting commerce within the meaning ofN. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1.  

67. Dilworth Playhouse's conduct as set forth in this Complaint has caused 

and continues to cause damage to Just Coffee.  

1 2 4828-!199i.8



68. Just Coffee is entitled to recover from Dilworth Playhouse treble damages 

pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.  

69. In addition, Just Coffee is entitled to recover from Dilworth Playhouse its 

reasonable attorney fees pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1.  

COUNT VI 

Preliminary and Permanent Injunction 

70. Just Coffee realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing 

allegations as if fully stated herein.  

71. The damages and injuries caused to Just Coffee by reason of Dilworth 

Playhouse's violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(l)(A), 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B), N.C.  

Gen. Stat. § 75 et seq. and the common law constitute damages and injuries that are 

ongoing and for which there is not an adequate remedy at law.  

72. Dilworth Playhouse's violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(l)(A), 15 US.C.  

§ 1125(a)(1)(B), N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75 et seq. and the common law are likely to continue 

to cause confusion and mistake among other members of the relevant public if Dilworth 

Playhouse is not preliminarily and permanently enjoined from infringing the Trademarks 

and from falsely advertising, promoting and marketing Defendant's goods and services.  

73. By reason of the foregoing, Just Coffee is entitled to a preliminarY and 

permanent injunction prohibiting Dilworth Playhouse from using the Trademarks, the 

Infringing Marks or any other names, designs or designations confusingly similar thereto 

in identifying Defendant's goods and services. Just Coffee is entitled to have the 

preliminary and permanent injunction include prohibiting Dilworth Playhouse from. using 

13 4828-8518-9889.05



the Infringing Site in connection with the sale or promotion of coffee and coffee-related 

goods and services.  

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reaso s, Just Coffee prays that: 

I. Dilworth Playhouse and its representatives, employees, and attorneys, and 

those acting in concert or in participation with Dilworth Playhouse be preliminarily and 

permanently enjoined from: 

(a) using the Infringing Marks and any other mark that is similar to the 

Trademarks so as to be likely to cause confusion or mistake, or to deceive the 

public; and 

(b) any other conduct whi h would cause or is likely to cause 

confusion, mistake, or misunderstanding in the minds of the public with regard to 

the Trademarks including, but not limited to, the use of the Infringing Site in 

connection to the sale or promotion of coffee and coffee-related goods and 

services.; 

2. Dilworth Playhouse be ordered to pay to Just Coffee all damages suffered 

by Just Coffee as a result of the acts complained of herein; 

3. Dilworth Playhouse be ordered to pay to Just Coffee all profits made by it 

using the Infringing Marks; 

4. Dilworth Playhouse be ordered to pay to Just Coffee all statutory damages 

as provided by law; 

4828&85 18-9889.05



5. Dilworth Playhouse be ordered t pay Just Coffee all punitive, treble or 

exemplary damages as provided by law, including treble damages and treble profits 
II 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and as a result of Dilworth Playhouse's violation of N.C.  

G en. Stat. § 75-1.1; L 

6. Dilworth Playhouse be ordered to pay Just Coffee costs and disbursements 

incurred in the prosecution of this action, including reasonable attorney fees, as provided 

under and in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and North Carolina law including, but not 

limited to, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1; and 

7. The Court grant such other and further relief as may be just and proper.  

JURY DEMAND 

Just Coffee hereby demands trial by juiy of all issues so triable.  

Respectfully submitted this the 8th day of September, 2008.  

s/Alice Carmichael Richey 
Alice Carmichael Richey 
NC. Bar# 13677 
Daniel V. Mumford 
NC. Bar# 35465 
K&L GATES LLP tIh 
Hearst Tower, 4 7 Floor 
214 North Tryon Street 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202-4006 
Týelephone: 704-331-7400 
Email: alice.richevCklgates.corn 
Email: dan.mumford(Aklgates.com 
•Attorneys for the Plaintiff 

15 482845 18-9889.05
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Tnt. CL.: 42 

Prior U.S. Cis.: 100 and 101 
Reg. No. 1,979,528 

United States Patent and Trademark Office Registered Amne it, 1996 

SERVICE MARK 
PRINCI'AL REGISTER 

DILWORTH COF FEivE HOUSE 

JUS" COFFFrI, INC. (NOR'I'lI CAROLINA COR- NO CLAIM IS MAD. "1'0 'I'll) IIXCI.,USIVIH 
PORAI'ION), 1)UA l)ILWORTII COF7FIt RIG

.
(3IIT TO US14. "COlVI IF IIOUSl," , APARI' 

HO0USE I'ROM '11111 MARK AS SIfiOWN.  
1235-1B EAST BIOUI..VARD2 
CIIARLOTI'R, NC 28203 S111C. 209.  

FOR! COFI0F1-1 BAR SERVICIES, IN CLASS 42 SER. NO. 74-669,212, VLIH,)tD 12-15-1994.  
(U.S. CIS. 100 AND lot).  

FIRST USE 11-0-1989; IN COMMEtRCU (OR(OW I01,0L0ORGIS, U.XAMINING ATI
1 I-0-1989. FIt)RNI W,
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Int. Cl.: 42 

Prior U.S. Cls.: 100 and 101 
Reg. No. 1,931,780 

United States Patent and Trademark Office Registered OcL .1, 1995 

SERVICE MARK 
PRINCIPAL gEGISTER 

JUST COFFEE, INC. (NORTH CAROLINA COR- NO CLAIM IS MADE TO THE EXCLUSIVE 
PORATION), DBA DILWORTH COFFEE RIGHT TO USE "HOUSE', APART FROM THE 
HOUSE MARK AS SHOWN.  

1235-B EAST BOULEVARD THE MARK CONSISTS OF THE WORDS 
CHARLOTTE, NC 28203 "DILWORTH COFFEE HOUSE" ANDE DESIGN 

OF A HOUSE AND FRAMEWORK.  

FOR: COFFEE BAR SERVICES, IN CLASS 42 SER. NO.74-611,665, FILED 12-15-1994.  
(U.S. CLS. 100 AND 101).  

FIR9T USE 11-0-1989; IN COMMERCE DAVID C. REIRNER, EXAMINING ATTOR
11-0-1989. NEY
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ATTORNE IYS AT LAW :X1813 

Alice Carmichael Richey 
704.331.7500 
704.353,3200 (fax) 

arichey@kennedycovingion.com 

July 27, 2006 

Via Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested 

Ms. Sandra R. Courtney 
Dilworth Playhouse, Inc.  
1427 South Boulevard, Suite 103 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28203 

RE: Dilworth Coffeehouse - Trademr k Infringement 
KCLH File No. 0019706.00001 

Dear Ms. Courtney: 

We represent Just Coffee, Inc. ("Just Coffee"). Since 1989, Just Coffee has sold gourmet 
coffees under the trade name and trademark1 "DILWORTH COFFEEHOUSE" (the "Mark").  
Dilworth Coffeehouse was the first gourmet coffee roaster and coffeehouse in Charlotte, North 
Carolina, and has received numerous awards for its superior coffee products and services. To 
date, fifteen locations operate under the Mark, including several locations outside of Charlotte, 
North Carolina. For your convenience, I haveý enclosed a list of the locations. You can also learn 

more about Dilworth Coffeehouse through its wvebsite, www.dilworthcoffee.com.  

Just Coffee received from the United States Patent and Trademark Office on October 31, 

1995, Federal Trademark Registration No. 1,931,780 for the word mark "DILWORrH COFFEE 
HOUSE" and design, and on June 11, 1996, Federal Trademark Registration No. 1,979,528 for 

the word mark "DILWORTH COFFEE HOUSE". Both registered trademarks are incontestable 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1065. In addition to its federal trademark registrations, Just Coffee has 

acquired strong common law trademark rights through its use for over 17 years of the mark 

"DILWORTH" in connection with its high-quality coffees and coffee-related goods and services; 

Just Coffee has expended large sums of mone•y in connection with the advertising and promotion 

of such high quality goods and services, and the Mark is a very valuable asset of the company.  

We understand your company, Dilworth Playhouse, Inc., is using the marks 

"DILWORTH" and "DILWORTH PLAYHOUSE" in connection with the sale and promotion of 

coffee. We also understand you are operating your establishment in Charlotte's SouthEnd 

community less than two miles from the Dilworth Coffeehouse located on East Boulevard. Your 

use of "DILWORTH" in connection with the sale of coffee is an obvious attempt ,to benefit from 

the goodwill and excellent reputation developed under my client's Mark. As result of your use 

of similar marks for identical services, there have been several incidences of consumer confusion 

316536.0 1 
LIM CHARLOTTE2 

HEARST T,'3WER. 47th FLOOR 

KENNEDY COVINGTON LOBOELL & HICKMAN, L.P. •,•," 214 NORTI-H T R'Y ON TR EEI 

CII.RLoT - -C, U.•14A RALeICf R(SC. 4.C1? Tg ,n C PAR K I t tL , ,eephor ¢ 704-331.7400 CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA 28202
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Dilworth Playhouse, Inc.  
July 27, 2006 
Page 2 

between Dilworth Coffeehouse and your company. For example, recently at the SCAA held this 
April in Charlotte, North Carolina, several i attendees stated to Dilworth Coffeehouse 
representatives that they saw or visited the Dilworth Coffeehouse located in Charlotte's 
SouthEnd on South Boulevard. Just Coffee does not have a Dilworth Coffeehouse in SouthEnd.  
When representatives inquired further, they learned that the attendees had confused the- Dilworth 
Coffeehouse with your company. These are a few of the many examples of actual consumer 
confusion documented by Just Coffee. Such confusion has caused and will continue to cause 
harm to Dilworth Coffehouse's sales, goodwill, and the reputation of its services.  

The use of "DILWORTH" and "DILWORTH PLAYHOUSE" by your company for 
services identical to those of Just Coffee constiutes a violation of Just Coffee's trademark rights 
as owner of the Mark and constitutes trademark infringement, false advertising and unfair trade 
practices in violation of Section 32 and Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act. These actions have 
caused and will continue to cause confusion, mistake and deception in violation of the Act.  
Additionally, these actions constitute unfair competition and violation of Just Coffee's common 
law trademark rights.  

Accordingly, we demand that you take immediate steps to discontinue any and all uses of 
the designation "DILWORTH" as a trademark, or any mark confusingly similar thereto. This 
includes discontinuing and withdrawing all. signage and promotional materials which use 
"DILWORTH" as a trademark and immediately modifying the website located at 
www.dilworthplayhouse.com so that it is not in any way connected with or referring to the sale 
or promotion of coffee and coffee-related goods and services. Because your company conducts 
business in Charlotte's SouthEnd community, we suggest that you change your name to the 
SouthEnd Playhouse.  

In view of the seriousness of this matter, including the scope of the infringing actions by 
your company, we must ask that you advise us of your company's intentions in this matter on or 
before August 9, 2006. If we have not received a satisfactory response by that date, we shall 
assume that your company has no interest in resolving this matter, and we shall advise our client 
to proceed accordingly without further notice to you, including filing a civil action against your 
company and any liable principals for an iju nction and for all damages, including lost profits, 
statutory damages and attorneys' fees.  

Sincerely, 

Alice Carmichael Richey 
For the Firm 

Enclosure 

cc: Donald Keen (w/enclosure) 

31653601 
UB: CH4ARLOTTE2
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EXHI.BIT 

A~llison G. Runge ATOREY ATLA 

70,3.7404E 

704.353.3104 (fax) 
arung .eakennedyeovineton.com 

September 21, 2006 

ViA FA (516) 741-5842 AND US MAIL1 

Lawrence T. Jones, Esq.  
Jones and Jones 
1000 Franklin Avenue 
Garden City, New York 11530 

RE: Just Coffee/ Dilworth Playhouse 
KCLH File No. 0019706.00001 

Dear Mr. Jones: 

Thank you for your return telephone call yesterday afternoon.  

As I explained in our conversation, my client desires to resolve this matter amicably without 
either party incurring litigation costs and intends to provide a reasonable period of time for Dilworth 
Playhouse to convert to a new trade name. However, Just Coffee must soon have written assurance that 
Dilworth Playhouse will take steps to dis continue use of "DILWORTH" and "DILWORTH 
PLAYHOUSE" as a trademark in connection with coffee and coffee related services and pi.oducts.  

I understand from our conversation that you intend to contact me in a few days with information 
about when Dilworth Playhouse will discontinue use of the "DILWORTH" designation. We remain 
hopeful Dilworth Playhouse desires to resolve this issue in the short term and are happy to review any 
alternative trade names posed by your client if thlis will help facilitate resolution.  

I look forward to hearing from you ver soon.  

Sincerely, 

Allison G. Runge 
cc: Donald Keen 

Alice C. Richey, Esq.  

HEARST TOWER, 47th FLO0 

KENNEDY COVINCTON LOBDELL & HICKMAN. L.L. F- .. k,,ndycorgto,3<oa. 234 NORTH TRYON STRREE 
rCC~haSE.-IfiCtfl3I~ CL! P.1!!£ ! a~rl/t! lrlcphou~u 704.331.7400 CH ARLOT! E. NORTH CAROLIN-A 282(
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ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

Allison G. Runge 
704.331.7404 

Fax: 704.353.3104 
anmge@kennedycovington.com 

October 26,2006 

VIA FACSIMILE (516) 741-5842/ 
ORIGINAL VIA FIRST CLASS MAWL 
Lawrence T. Jones, Esq.  
Jones and Jones 
1000 Franklin Avenue 
Garden City, New York 11530 

RE: Just Coffee/Dilworth Playhouse 
KCLH File No. 19706.001 

Dear Mr. Jones: 

With reference to your letter of August 10, 2006, we understand that you were to have an "in 
depth" review of our initial letter of July 27, 2006 and the issues raised therein with your client, Ms.  
Sandra R. Courtney. However, after several correspondences with you regarding this matter, including 
our letter to you dated September 21, 2006, we still have not received any written assurance or 
confirmation from Dilworth Playhouse, Inc. of the intent to discontinue all use of the marks 
"DILWORTH" and "DILWORTH PLAYHOUSE" in association with coffee bar services and coffee
related products and services. I 

As stated previously, our client would prefer to resolve this matter amicably without resorting to 
legal action. However, Dilworth Playhouse, Inc.'s continued failure to address these concerns leaves our 
client with no other option but to proceed accordingly in a court of law. With this in mind, please find 
enclosed a Complaint to be filed on November 14, 2006 in the U.S. District Court for the Western District 
of North Carolina in the event that our client does not receive by November 13, 2006 proper written 
assurances from Dilworth Playhouse Inc. with respect to its intent to discontinue use of the 
"DILWORTH" and "DILWORTH PLAYHOUSE" marks.  

We look forward to hearing from you regarding this matter at your earliest convenience.  

Sincerely, 

Allison G. Runge 
For the Firm 

Enclosure 

Cc: Donald Keen 
Alice C. Richey, Esq.  

HEARST TOWER, 47th FRLOOR 
KENNEDY COVINGTON LOBDEL. & HICKMAN, L.L.P. UR'-k0 ,,yoiKto.¢oE 234 NORTH T yON STEEET 
CNARLOT£E COL-tfl111A j IIfIG 1ESARCH TRtANGLE PARK ROCK NILL tfep'hone 704.331,7400 CHARLOTTE. NORTH CAROLINA 28202
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ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

Allison 0. Runge 
704.331.7404 
Fax: 704.353.3104 
arunge@kennedycoYington.COm 

November 171, 2006 

VIA FACSIMILE (516) 741-5842/ 
ORIGINAL VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL 
Lawrence T. Jones, Esq.  
Jones and Jones 
1000 Franklin Avenue 
Garden City, New York 11530 

FOR SETTLEMENT PURPOSES ONLY 

RE: Just Coffee/Dilworth Playhouse 
KCLH File No. 19706.001 

Dear Mr. Jones: 

Thank you, for your phone call last Thursday, November 91
h

. We have reviewed your 
offer with our client, and unfortunately, we are unable to resolve this matter under those 
particular terms. However, we are offering through this letter an alternative settlement proposal 
for your consideration. Any settlement obtained by the parties must be memorialized in writing 
and signed by the parties.  

I. On or before April 1, 2007, Dilworth Playhouse, Inc. ("Dilworth Playhouse") and 
Sandra Courtney will cease and forever refrain from any and all uses of the marks DILWORTH 
and DILWORTH PLAYHOUSE when identifying Dilworth Playhouse, its services and 
products. This includes discontinuing and withdra I ng all signage and promotional materials 
which use "DILWORTH" as a trademark. Although Dilworth Playhouse may continue fto use its 
corporate name, Dilworth Playhouse, Inc., it will not use its corporate name in any advertising or 
to identify its services or products after March 31 2007.  

2. We understand Dilworth Playhouse intends to change its name and no lo:ager 
operate in its present location at 1427 South Boulevard, Suite 103, in Charlotte, North Carolina.  
If Dilworth Playhouse intends to continue to operate its coffee bar services and coffee-related 
products and services in a different location, Dilworth Playhouse must begin advertising its new 
name and location at its South Boulevard location and in all advertising beginning not later than 
January 1, 2007. For example, the advertising may state, "We are moving! NEW NAME, 
formerly Dilworth Playhouse, is moving to its n 0w location at NEW LOCATION on April 1, 
2007." 

HEARST TOWER, 47th FLOOR 

K(ENNEDY COVINGTON LO IDELL & HICKNIAN, L.L.P. . o.,,, 214 NORTH I t 'RYON STREET 
C 4tt C l~.l l I f F • ,g hon,704.331.74I O CHARLOTTE, NOOR IH CAROLINA 28202
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Lawrence T. Jones, Esq.  
November 17,2006 
Page 2 

3. Within ten days of entering the Agreement, Dilworth Playhouse will modify the 
website located at www.dilworthplayhouse.com so that it is not in any way connected with or 
referring to the sale or promotion of coffee and coffee-related goods and services.  

4. On July 27, 2006, Just Coffee first atiempted to contact Dilworth Playhouse: to 
amicably resolve this matter. Almost four months later, my client has incurred attorney's 'ees in 
association with time spent to draft letters, to initiate phone calls, and finally to draft the 
Complaint. Based upon our considerable evidence of actual confusion, we believe we have a 
strong case against Dilworth Playhouse for violation of the Lanham Act and for an award of 
damages under 15 USC § 11 17(a) which would include Dilworth Playhouse's profits, recovery 
for harm to Just Coffee's reputation and costs associated with bringing the action. Moreover, we 
believe your client's continued infringement after r ceiving notice from Just Coffee was willful 
and warrants an award of attorney's fees.  

Although Just Coffee is aware that it is entitled to such awards, it has advised us that in 
settlement, it seeks only to recover its costs incurred in pursuing the infringing activity of 
Dilworth Playhouse. As such, Just Coffee requires payment of $5,000 to resolve this matter.  
Obviously, Just Coffee believes that but for Dilworh Playhouse's failure to respond timely to 
Just Coffee's demands, it would not have incurredIadditional attorney's fees.. To date, Just 
Coffee has been invoiced almost $4,000 by Kennedy Covington Lobdell & Hickman. It 
anticipates incurring no less than $1,000 in the drafting and negotiating of any settlemen.  

Although frustrated by the slow pace of this process, my client does desire resolution.  
We look forward to hearing from you regarding this matter at your earliest convenience.  

Sincerely, 

Allison G. Runge(-,( 

For the Firm 

Cc: Donald Keen 

Alice C. Richey, Esq.
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ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

Alice Car-michael Richey 
(704) 33 1.7500 (voice) 
(704) 353.3200 (fax) 
arichey@kkennedycovington.com 

July 17, 20 7 

VIA FACSIMILE: 516-741-5842 
e-mail: LAWRENCETJONESQlABANET.ORG 
and REGULAR MAIL 

Lawrence T. Jones, Esquire 
JONES AND JONES 
Attorneys-At-Law 
1000 Franklin Avenue 
Garaden City, New York 11530 

Re: Just Coffee, Inc,/Dilworth Playhouse matter 
Our File No. 0019706.00001 

Dear Mr. Jones 

As you know, I represent Just Coffee, Inc. which operates under the name Dilworth Coffeehouse.  
It is my understanding that your client, Dilworth Playhouse, has finally agreed to use a different 
name under which to conduct business and may have begun the process of changing the name.  
However, this process has not been completed and, additionally, your client continues to operate 
a website at www.dilworthplavhouse.co r, which is a further infringement of my client's 
trademark rights. It is time for this matter to be concluded. My client has been more than 
patient. It is a relatively simple matter to change ýsignage and to change a website. Please advise 
your client that all steps to completely change itsl name must be concluded on or before July 31, 
2007. We will not tolerate any further delays.  

Thank you for your assistance.  

Sincerely yours, 

a nichael Richey 
For the Firm 

ACR:ja 

4924-925-31210 

KIrNNEDY COVINGTON LOBDELL & HICKMAN L.L.F . r 214 N OR'F14I 'RNYON STREET 
............ 7 , 1 EAR1_0 T "I F, N -'l C R O I7 I FNOAOR20
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ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

Alice Carmichael Richey 
(704) 33 1.7500 (voice) 
(704) 353.3200 (fax) 
arichey@kennedycovington.com 

September 27, 2007 

VIA FACSIMILE: 516-741-5842 
e-mail: LAWREN.ETJJONES(,ABANET.ORG 
and REGULAR MAIL 

Lawrence T. Jones, Esquire 
JONES AND JONES 
Attorneys-At-Law 
1000 Franklin Avenue 
Garaden City, New York 11530 

Re: Just Coffee, Inc./Dilworth Playhouse matter 
Our File No. 00 19706.00001 

Dear Mr. Jones 

As of today, the www.dilworthblavhouse.com website is still in operation and continues 
to infringe my client's trademark rights. NeedlesIs to say, my client is extremely frustrated with 
your client's continued willful infringement. Welýhad hoped to avoid filing a lawsuit, but it does 
not appear that the infringement will cease without the court's involvement. If the website is not 
modified in a manner satisfactory to my client by/October 15, 2007, a complaint will be filed and 
it will seek the award of attorneys' fees, along wifht damages, including statutory damages which 
we believe are compelled in this matter. / 

If you no longer represent Dilworth Playhouse please advise immediately.  

S rely yours, 

ce Carichael Fiche 
For the Firm 

ACR:ja 

4824-8925-3121.aI 

HEARST TOWER, 471b FLOOR 

KENNEDY COVINGTON LOODELL & HICKM . LL.tP. ... ...... 214 N ORTII TRYO N 5Tr IrET 
Cta.ARLO• rC€ COLU,1$JA R •tEFrfI £SEAI4CR TaIA,, , pARK nOCg Ht,' ,..- 7114331 74111 CII 1S LOT EL, NO ERH CAROtINA '121
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